

## Maximizing the benefit of papaya fruits (*Caricapapaye*) in production of some bakery products

**Comment [f1]:** Separate GENUS and Specie:  
Words are joined

### Abstract

Celiac disease is an intestinal disorder caused by antibodies reacting to gluten, resulting in a permanent sensitivity to it. There is no definitive cure for this disease other than a permanent gluten-free diet. Demand for gluten-free baked goods is on the rise, especially by individuals with celiac disease, gluten sensitivity, or those who are concerned about overall health. Gluten-free products, such as biscuits, are attracting increasing interest due to their ease of consumption, as well as their unique taste and texture but these products are also deficient in certain essential ingredients such as dietary fiber and micronutrients. This study focused on manufacturing healthy gluten-free biscuits (using corn flour) fortified with different types of papaya flour (whole fruits, pulp, and peels) at a low cost and high nutritional value, containing vitamins, calcium, iron, fiber, and antioxidants. This product is suitable for special groups of society and appeals to different age groups and has multiple health benefits, such as preventing cancer, anemia, and osteoporosis. In addition, this product contributes to maximizing the use of papaya and making it available throughout the year in the form of innovative products with economical preservation methods, which helps reduce the use of wheat flour in the preparation of biscuits, thus reducing wheat imports. Six different biscuit mixes were prepared by replacing corn flour with papaya flour at ratios (10% and 25%), pulp flour (20% and 35%), or peel flour (10% and 25%), and compared with a reference sample made with 100% wheat flour and another made with 100% corn flour. The content of moisture, fat, carbohydrates, calories and proteins decreased (except for the two treatments fortified with papaya flour peels), while the content of fiber and minerals, especially sodium, calcium, magnesium, iron and zinc, increased in biscuits fortified with different types of papaya flour. Although the water activity content of the fortified biscuit samples was higher than that of the corn flour control, the water activity content was less than 0.85, which is very suitable for the long preservation period. Also, the color values  $L^*$ ,  $a^*$ ,  $b^*$ , hardness, crispness (except for treatment 3), diameter, thickness, spread ratio and the percentage spread (except for treatment 3) decreased while the weight increased in fortified samples compared to samples made from corn flour (control). The fortified samples also recorded a lower acceptability score than the corn-based biscuits except for the samples fortified with papaya pulp flour, which gave the highest acceptability scores. In conclusion, it can be concluded that gluten-free biscuits with high value of nutritional, health, sensory properties and acceptability can be produced by fortifying corn flour with papaya pulp flour.

**Key words:** Gluten-free products, Papaya fruit, Pulp, Peels, Celiac disease, Corn flour.

**Comment [f2]:**

**Comment [f3]:** Follow Journal Guidelines of italicizing abstract

**Comment [f4]:** 1. Celiac disease  
2. Gluten-free  
3. Papaya flour  
4. Corn flour  
5. Biscuits  
6. Nutrition  
7. Health benefits  
8. Fortification  
9. Gluten sensitivity  
10. Food technology  
Select a little

**Comment [f5]:** Ititalize all et atl

### 1. Introduction

Biscuits are a popular snack in different countries and are popular all over the world due to their affordability, long shelf life, and availability in different flavors, often made from wheat flour. The use of bakery products as a means of supplementing various nutrients is advancing day by day. The bakery products made from refined flour are much poorer nutritionally and do not adequately meet the requirements for many macro- or micronutrients (Nadeem et al., 2010). In addition, there is a growing demand for gluten-free foods, especially for celiac patients who make up 1% of the world's population (Baljeet et al., 2010). The average number of people with celiac disease worldwide is expected to increase 10-fold over the next few years (Gallagher et al., 2004), so the challenge here is to strictly adhere to a gluten-free diet. The European Commission Regulation of the European Union (EC No. 41/2009) requires that foodstuffs for gluten-intolerant people do not contain a level of gluten exceeding 100 mg/kg (100 ppm) in foods, with this level classified as "very low gluten" and a gluten content not exceeding 20 mg/kg as "gluten-free" (McCabe, 2010). Gluten-free bakery products are considered safe for celiac patients, but the nutritional quality of gluten-free bakery products may be deficient due to the use of highly refined flours and starches that are high in starchy carbohydrates but low in protein quantity and quality as well as low in fiber (Fry et al., 2018). Therefore, relatively more gluten-free cereal flours and starches (e.g. rice, corn, and sorghum) that have protein content similar or higher than wheat flour (Di Cairano et al., 2018) and are rich in fiber, minerals, and antioxidant bioactive compounds, which add additional nutritional value to gluten-free bakery products (Melini et al., 2017), can be used as supplements.

As a result, other types of flours are gaining attention for their gluten-free properties, such as corn flour for making biscuits. White corn flour is a gluten-free product which makes it suitable for people with gluten sensitivity or celiac disease. It is rich in fiber, which aids digestion, vitamins such as vitamin B, and minerals such as iron and magnesium. It is also a good source of energy and contains a good percentage of protein, which helps build muscle. It contains 360 calories per 100 grams of flour, 75 grams of carbohydrates per 100 grams, 8 grams of protein per 100 grams, and 2.5 grams of fiber per 100 grams. White cornmeal gives a coarser and firmer texture to mixtures as well as mildly sweet taste compared to other flours.

Gluten is essential for the structure and shape of the dough, while its absence can weaken it, leading to a runny dough and poor respiratory properties. Gluten-free dough is less cohesive, inflexible and difficult to handle, with less desirable texture and quality. Gluten-free bakery products are high in carbohydrates and calories, raising concerns for health-conscious consumers. The challenge lies in replacing wheat gluten with other ingredients that

provide similar functionality. Binders and improvers such as xanthan gum, guar gum and apple pectin are used to improve the texture and quality of gluten-free biscuits (**Preichardt et al., 2011; Matos and Russell, 2015**). There is a growing trend towards incorporating dietary fibers and minerals into baked products as a means to increase their nutritional value as their intake is associated with reduced incidences of cancer, type 2 diabetes, obesity, cardiovascular disease, and chronic respiratory disorders (**Schwingshackel et al., 2015**). Dietary fiber plays an important role in maintaining a healthy digestive system, regulating blood sugar levels and promoting satiety, which may help with weight management. Minerals are also essential for many physiological processes, such as bone health, immune function, and nerve and muscle function.

By incorporating fruits into baked products such as biscuits, it is possible to increase their fiber and nutrient content without sacrificing taste or texture to enhance the nutritional composition and functional properties of baked goods.

Papaya (*Carica papaya* L.) whether whole fruit, papaya pulp or peels is an excellent source of fiber, minerals, phytochemicals, and vitamins C and A. Traditional methods of disposing of papaya peels contribute to environmental pollution, even though they are rich in bioactive compounds. Papaya is a tropical fruit with a presence both in the national and international market due to its therapeutic and nutritional properties. Papaya compared to other fruits like oranges and carrots is a good source of protein, vitamin C,  $\beta$ -carotene, calcium, potassium, iron, sodium and magnesium (**Bolarinwa et al., 2020**). Papaya fruits differ in terms of their physical and chemical properties. Fruit weight ranged from 645.40 to 1740.00 g, the average weight of the pulp was from 550 to 1400 g and it represented 80 to 87% of the fruit weight, while the peel represented 12 to 14%, while the seeds represented 0.5-7%. pH ranges from 4.2 to 4.5, TSS from 9 to 13%, acidity from 2 to 2.3%, total sugars from 7 to 10.50%, reducing sugars from 3.4 to 6.90%, and vitamin C from 40 to 44 mg/100 g (**Zaman et al. 2006**). Ripe papaya fruits contained high moisture content (>85.5%), low acidity (<0.18% GA), low crude fat (0.10 g/100 g edible fraction), moderate crude fiber content (1.45 g/100 g edible fraction), high ascorbic acid content (>84.5 mg/100 g w/w), and moderate content of total sugars (>13.0%) and soluble solids (>12.9%). Among the identified macronutrients (Ca, K, Mg, Na), the potassium content (420 mg/100 g) was the highest (**Othman, 2009**). Papaya contains nutrients and phytochemicals that help improve digestion, reduce inflammation, and support cardiovascular, immune, and digestive health. It may also reduce the risk of colon, lung and prostate cancer as it acts as a detoxifier, metabolism booster, rejuvenator and maintains body balance because it is rich in antioxidants, B vitamins, folic acid, pantothenic acid, potassium, magnesium as well as fiber. Due to its high content of vitamin or carotenoids, it can help prevent cataracts and age-related macular degeneration (**Ali et al., 2012**). Papaya is rich in fiber, which helps avoid constipation and lowers cholesterol. They are also rich in vitamins C and A. One fruit contains about 100% vitamin C and 30% vitamin A. They also include vitamins E, K,  $\beta$ -carotene and folic acid, which help lower homocysteine levels, which is a risk factor for heart attacks and strokes (**Noshadet et al., 2018**). Papaya is known for its nutritional and therapeutic properties as it contains papain enzymes, chymopapain (anti-cancer activity), carotenoids, alkaloids, monoterpenoids, flavonoids, minerals, and vitamins. Its multiple medicinal properties include: - Antifertility, uterine tonic, diuretic, antihypertensive, antihyperlipidemic, anthelmintic, anti-wound, antifungal, antibacterial, antitumor, and anti-free radical (**Nakhate et al., 2019; Zainulet et al., 2022**). Papaya is a rich source of bioactive compounds such as isothiocyanates and lycopene, as well as enzymes such as chymopapain that aid digestion and papain with antioxidant properties, making it a cholesterol-lowering, anti-hypertensive, and anti-diabetic fruit (**Verma et al., 2017**). It is also a powerful anti-cancer agent (**Ramadan et al., 2015**). Since papaya peel is rich in phenols, it has been used as an alternative source of phenols, as it has strong antioxidant properties, used as antitumor, anticancer and antiviral agents, as well as lowering blood pressure (**Jamal et al., 2017**). A recent study also showed that papaya contains the amino acid arginine, which is essential for male fertility (**Rovira, 2009**).

There is a wide scope for improving the nutritional quality of biscuits while meeting the demand for consumer health has led to the development of many healthy alternatives by adding healthy ingredients in the biscuit industry to make it more nutritious, tasty and suitable for many patients such as celiac patients (**Abd El-Hamid et al., 2019**). Therefore, this study aims to develop new types of gluten-free biscuits with nutritional value enhanced with different types of papaya flour while promoting the utilization of underutilized fruit in the production of value-added products.

## 2. Materials and methods

### 2.1. Materials

The Egyptian Company for Maize Products, 10th of Ramadan City, Egypt, provided the 97% yellow maize flour. The local market in Giza, Egypt, provided the papaya (*Carica papaya* L. Solo) fruits and baking supplies, such as corn oil, sugar, and salt. All chemical used in this study was analytical grade.

### 2.2. Methods

#### 2.2.1. Preparation of papaya powder

The following are the processes to manufacture papaya powder, as stated in **Varastegani et al. (2015)**, with some modifications: Papaya fruits were carefully washed with tap water and the seeds were removed. The papaya was separated into three treatments: whole fruit, pulp alone, or peel only, and cut into pieces varying in thickness from 0.5 to 1 mm. Then, for 24 hours, dry in an oven set at 60 degrees Celsius. Individual samples were crushed into

Comment [f6]: Separate citation

fine powder with a desktop mill and sieved through a 60-mesh sieve. The powder was stored in polyethylene bags at  $4 \pm 1$  °C until used.

## 2.2.2. Preparation of gluten-free biscuits

A biscuit recipe consists of major and minor ingredients. Flour, fat or oil, sugar, water, chemical leavening agents (sodium bicarbonate, ammonium bicarbonate) are the main primary ingredients while salt, egg, emulsifier, and flavoring compounds act as optional secondary ingredients (Mancebo et al., 2015). Gluten-free biscuits were prepared according to the method of Schober et al. (2003) with some modifications. The ingredient quantities were quantified in accordance with the recipes presented in Table 1. The eggs were initially homogenized using a hand mixer (Braun, Kronberg, Germany) for a few seconds. Next, the sugar, corn oil, and eggs were mixed for 20 seconds at speed 3. Half of the flour and all other ingredients were then included and mixed for 20 seconds. The remaining flour was then added and mixed for 140 seconds. A total mixing time of 3 minutes. After a 20-minute rest, the dough was shaped into 5 mm thick sheets with a diameter of 50 mm. After shaping the biscuits by hand, they were baked at 180°C for 20 minutes in a laboratory oven. The biscuits cooled at room temperature for 75 minutes.

**Table 1. Recipe for the production of biscuit by grams.**

	Control 1	Control 2	Dried fruits at 25% (T1)	Dried fruits at 30% (T2)	Dried pulp at 10% (T3)	Dried Pulp at 35% (T4)	Dried peel at 15% (T5)	Dried peel at 20% (T6)
Wheat flour	100	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Corn flour	-	100	75	70	90	65	85	80
Sugar	35	35	35	35	35	35	35	35
Corn oil	28	28	28	28	28	28	28	28
Eggs	27.5	27.5	27.5	27.5	27.5	27.5	27.5	27.5
Sodium bicarbonate	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Vanilla	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Salt	0.91	0.91	0.91	0.91	0.91	0.91	0.91	0.91
Ammonium bicarbonate	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Cream of tartar	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Carboxymethylcellulose	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1

## 2.2.3. Analysis

### 2.2.3.1. Proximate composition

Moisture, fat, ash, crude fiber, and crude protein ( $N \times 5.7$ ), as well as mineral content (Na, Ca, P, K, Fe, Zn, and Mg), were measured according to AOAC (2012), whereas available carbohydrate was estimated by the difference,  $100 - (\text{protein} + \text{fat} + \text{fiber} + \text{ash})$  according to Fraser and Holmes, 1959. The total calories were computed (kcal/100g) using the FAO (2003),  $E = 4 \times (\text{carbohydrate}\% + \text{protein}\%) + 9 \times (\text{fat}\%)$ .

### 2.2.3.2. Physical properties

Diameter of biscuits was measured by laying six biscuits edge to edge with the help of a scale rotating them 90° and again measuring the diameter (cm) of six biscuits and then taking average value. The thickness of the biscuits was measured by arranging six biscuits in a stack and determining the mean thickness (in centimeters). The weight (g) of the biscuits was obtained by measuring the average of six separate biscuits using a digital balance. Spread ratio was calculated by dividing the average value of diameter by average value of thickness of biscuits (Gomez et al., 1997). The percent spread calculation was performed by dividing the value of spread ratio for biscuits manufactured with gluten-free flour by the spread ratio of the control biscuits and the result was then multiplied by 100 to obtain the percent spread value. The hardness was measured using a texture analyzer (Brookfield, CT3, USA). Crispness was estimated as the count of a positive peaks obtained from penetration test. (Hamdani et al., 2020).

### 2.2.3.3. Water activity

Water activity ( $a_w$ ) of the samples was measured using  $a_w$  measurement device (Hygrolab, Cole Parmer) with an accuracy of  $\pm 0.001$  at 25 °C. before the test, the  $A_w$  meter was activated and permitted to reach thermal equilibrium for a period of 30 minutes. The measurement of each sample was executed in accordance with the instrument's protocol (Dawit et al., 2019).

### 2.2.3.4. Color

The color measurement achieved by color meter (Konica Minolta CR-400). The results of lightness, redness, and yellowness were recorded in  $L^*a^*b^*$ , respectively.

### 2.2.3.5. Sensory evaluation

Ten panelists from the Bread and Pastry Research Department of the Food Technology Research Institute, Agric. Res. Center, Giza, assessed the sensory qualities of biscuits. According to (Mudgil et al., 2017 and Naseer et al., 2021), the following criteria were used to create the grading system: color (10), flavor (10), mouthfeel (10), crispness (10), appearance (10), and overall score 50 degrees.

### 2.2.3.6. Statistical analysis

Every measurement was done 3 times. The statistical software SPSS (version 20.0) was used to analyze the data, and at a significance level of 5%, the analysis of variance test (ANOVA) was used to examine significant differences in accordance with Duncan's Multiple Range Tests.

**Comment [f7]:** Which model; model number please

### 3. Results and discussion:

#### 3.1. Chemical structure of the starting materials (on dry weight basis)

Table 2. Chemical structure of raw materials (g/100 g)

Constituents	Wheat flour	Corn flour	Whole papaya fruit flour	Papaya pulp flour	papaya peel flour	Eggs
Moisture content	12.21 <sup>b</sup>	9.95 <sup>c</sup>	6.49 <sup>d</sup>	6.14 <sup>d</sup>	9.06 <sup>c</sup>	76.20 <sup>a</sup>
Protein	13.00 <sup>a</sup>	8.12 <sup>d</sup>	2.19 <sup>e</sup>	0.84 <sup>f</sup>	12.13 <sup>c</sup>	12.56 <sup>b</sup>
Fat	1.00 <sup>c</sup>	1.00 <sup>c</sup>	3.97 <sup>c</sup>	4.13 <sup>b</sup>	2.79 <sup>d</sup>	9.52 <sup>a</sup>
Fiber	0.50 <sup>c</sup>	2.50 <sup>d</sup>	18.32 <sup>b</sup>	16.48 <sup>c</sup>	31.78 <sup>a</sup>	0.00
Carbohydrate	72.63 <sup>b</sup>	75.89 <sup>a</sup>	65.01 <sup>d</sup>	68.55 <sup>c</sup>	48.15 <sup>e</sup>	1.17 <sup>f</sup>
Ash	0.66 <sup>c</sup>	2.54 <sup>d</sup>	4.01 <sup>b</sup>	3.86 <sup>c</sup>	5.15 <sup>a</sup>	0.55 <sup>f</sup>

[There is no significant difference between the same letter in the same row at  $P \leq 0.05$ .]

As illustrated in Table 2, the chemical composition of the raw materials utilized in the production of the various biscuit treatments examined in this study is presented. With regard to moisture content, the moisture content of the wheat flour used (12.21%) was higher than the moisture content of the corn flour used (9.95%). The moisture content of the various types of papaya flour ranged from 6.14% to 9.06%, with the dried papaya peel exhibiting the highest moisture content (9.06%). The moisture content of eggs reached 76.20%. Wheat flour exhibited a higher protein content (13%) compared to corn flour (8.12%), and the protein content of wheat was also higher than that of eggs (12.56%). The dried peel of papaya exhibited the highest protein content (12.13%), surpassing both dried whole fruits (2.19%) and dried pulp (0.84%). With regard to fat content, no significant differences were observed between wheat flour and corn flour, both exhibiting a 1% fat content. However, eggs demonstrated the highest fat content, reaching 9.52%. Additionally, corn flour exhibited a higher fiber content (2.50%) compared to wheat flour (0.5%). The fiber content of papaya peels was higher than that of the fruit and higher than that of the pulp. Eggs had the lowest fiber content (1.17%) of all the materials used in the manufacture of biscuits. The carbohydrate content of corn flour was higher (75.89%) than that of wheat (72.63%), followed by that of dried papaya pulp (68.55%). The mineral content of the raw materials used in the manufacture of biscuits ranged from 0.66% to 5.15%. It is evident that the flour produced from the peels and fruits of papaya and dried pulp will be a significant source of mineral fortification in manufactured biscuits due to the high mineral content of these raw materials.

Comment [f8]: Kindly recast this statement and describe your table again

#### 3.2. Chemical structure for the different types of biscuits (g/100 g)

Table 3. Chemical structure for the different types of biscuits (g/100 g)

	Moisture	Protein	Fat	Fiber	Carbohydrate	Ash	Calorie's kcal/100g
C1 (Control wheat)	4.52 <sup>a</sup>	9.65 <sup>a</sup>	14.54 <sup>c</sup>	0.38 <sup>a</sup>	69.74 <sup>a</sup>	1.18 <sup>a</sup>	448.40 <sup>a</sup>
C2 (Control corn)	3.65 <sup>d</sup>	7.80 <sup>c</sup>	14.54 <sup>c</sup>	1.89 <sup>f</sup>	70.24 <sup>a</sup>	1.89 <sup>f</sup>	442.99 <sup>b</sup>
T1 (Whole dried fruits at 25%)	3.85 <sup>c</sup>	7.25 <sup>c</sup>	14.82 <sup>b</sup>	4.87 <sup>d</sup>	67.18 <sup>c</sup>	2.03 <sup>c</sup>	431.11 <sup>d</sup>
T2 (Whole dried fruits at 30%)	3.96 <sup>c</sup>	7.14 <sup>c</sup>	14.88 <sup>b</sup>	5.47 <sup>b</sup>	66.50 <sup>d</sup>	2.05 <sup>b</sup>	428.45 <sup>e</sup>
T3 (Dried pulp at 10%)	3.68 <sup>d</sup>	7.53 <sup>d</sup>	14.66 <sup>c</sup>	3.94 <sup>e</sup>	68.25 <sup>b</sup>	1.94 <sup>c</sup>	435.05 <sup>c</sup>
T4 (Dried pulp at 35%)	3.70 <sup>d</sup>	6.84 <sup>f</sup>	14.95 <sup>a</sup>	5.58 <sup>b</sup>	66.86 <sup>c</sup>	2.06 <sup>a</sup>	429.40 <sup>c</sup>
T5 (Dried peel at 15%)	4.17 <sup>b</sup>	7.99 <sup>b</sup>	14.57 <sup>d</sup>	5.18 <sup>c</sup>	66.07 <sup>c</sup>	2.02 <sup>d</sup>	427.35 <sup>c</sup>
T6 (Dried peel at 20% %)	4.32 <sup>a</sup>	8.05 <sup>b</sup>	14.58 <sup>d</sup>	6.27 <sup>a</sup>	64.71 <sup>f</sup>	2.07 <sup>a</sup>	422.26 <sup>a</sup>

[There is no significant difference between the same letter in the same column at  $P \leq 0.05$ .]

**Moisture content** ranged from 3.65 to 4.52 g/100 g and shows variation among all biscuits. Moisture plays a crucial role in determining the quality and shelf life of sugar-based confectionery (Ergun et al. 2010). It is observed from Table 3 that the relative moisture content is low in all types of biscuits made from corn flour, whether fortified with papaya or not, compared to biscuits made from wheat flour, and this may be due to the strength of the gluten network formed in the biscuits because it contains gluten protein. The different papaya flour added to corn flour increased the moisture retention capacity of the biscuits. This could be due to their high-water absorption capacity because of their fiber content which tend to bind and retain more water (Maboh et al., 2024). The moisture level of a food is an indicator of its water activity and is used to assess its susceptibility to microbial infection. According to (Rebellato et al., 2015), the moisture content of biscuits should not exceed 14% and the optimum moisture content should be no more than 5% which maximizes the shelf life of the biscuits. It is clear from the above results that the moisture content was in a suitable range for the biscuits, ranging from 3.65 to 4.52%. Ng et al. (2020) found similar results using overripe banana pulp chocolate cookies.

**Protein content** varied among all types of biscuits, with wheat flour biscuits recording the highest protein content of 9.65 g/100 g, followed by the treatment in which corn flour was replaced with dried papaya peels at a rate of 20 percent and the one in which corn flour was replaced with peels at a rate of 15 percent. The protein content of all biscuit treatments ranged from 6.84 to 9.65 g/100 g with a difference in calorie content from 27.36 to 38.6 kcal.

The presence of fat influences the shelf life of the food (Addisu et al., 2019). High fat concentration may hasten degradation by encouraging rancidity, resulting in the production of undesirable smells and aromas. The fat

Comment [f9]: Words are joined here, please separate

content ranged from 14.54 to 14.95g per 100g, where the treatment with dried pulp at 35% recorded the highest fat content, while biscuits made from wheat and corn flour recorded the lowest fat content (14.54%). Despite the observed increase, fat content remained below the requirement of 15% (Rutkowska et al., 2012). The difference in calories for fat between the highest and lowest fat content treatments was only 3.69 calories compared to carbohydrates which was 23.32 calories.

The total dietary fiber in all samples ranged from 0.19 to 3.13 g/100 g. The percentage of fiber increased as the proportion of peels added to the treatment increased and the increase was higher when the peels were added purely than when added in the form of whole fruits and the increase in fiber has many health benefits. High fiber content improves digestion and thus reduces constipation (Elleuch et al., 2011). According to the Institute of Medicine's Daily Fiber Intake Guidelines (DRIs), males over 50 should consume 30 grams of dietary fiber per day, while females should consume 21 grams of dietary fiber per day (IM, 2006). 100 grams of a biscuits fortified with papaya peel in treatment 6 can provide 21 and 30% of the daily dose of fiber for males and females, respectively, over the age of 50 years. Eating foods rich in dietary fiber reduces the risk of cardiovascular disease, some cancers, and type 2 diabetes, as well as promotes the regulation of physiological functions, according to epidemiological research (Sharma et al., 2016).

Ash content also varies among all biscuits. Samples with a high ash content are predicted to have a high concentration of different mineral elements, which are thought to expedite metabolic processes and boost growth and development.

Table 3 shows the approximate composition of biscuits made from wheat, corn, and other treatments. It is clear from the table that carbohydrates were the main component of the macronutrients and ranged from (64.71 to 70.24 g per 100 g) and contributed 257.64 to 280.96 kcal of the total calories.

Food energy is particularly important because it helps determine the fuel value of food. Although energy is not a nutrient, it is essential in the system for metabolic activities, biological performance, muscle activity, heat production, growth, and tissue formation (Bello et al., 2013). The energy output of biscuits made from corn flour fortified with various forms of papaya flour is lower than that of biscuits made from corn flour alone, which also has a lower energy output than biscuits made from wheat flour.

### 3.3. Mineral's composition of different types of biscuits

Table 4. Mineral content of different types of biscuits (mg/100 g)

Sample	mg/100g				
	Na	Ca	Mg	Fe	Zn
C1 (Control wheat)	216.8 <sup>e</sup>	82.4 <sup>h</sup>	33.4 <sup>a</sup>	4.7 <sup>b</sup>	2.4 <sup>c</sup>
C2 (Control corn)	208.7 <sup>g</sup>	87.0 <sup>g</sup>	19.6 <sup>e</sup>	3.1 <sup>g</sup>	2.3 <sup>d</sup>
T1 (Whole dried fruits at 25%)	221.3 <sup>d</sup>	213.0 <sup>d</sup>	20.8 <sup>d</sup>	3.3 <sup>e</sup>	2.5 <sup>b</sup>
T2 (Whole dried fruits at 30%)	226.7 <sup>c</sup>	238.2 <sup>b</sup>	21.3 <sup>b</sup>	3.4 <sup>d</sup>	2.5 <sup>b</sup>
T3 (Dried pulp at 10%)	210.5 <sup>f</sup>	113.7 <sup>f</sup>	19.8 <sup>e</sup>	3.1 <sup>g</sup>	2.3 <sup>d</sup>
T4 (Dried pulp at 35%)	216.8 <sup>e</sup>	180.3 <sup>e</sup>	20.4 <sup>e</sup>	3.2 <sup>f</sup>	2.4 <sup>c</sup>
T5 (Dried peel at 15%)	230.3 <sup>b</sup>	226.0 <sup>c</sup>	21.7 <sup>b</sup>	4.6 <sup>c</sup>	2.6 <sup>a</sup>
T6 (Dried peel at 20% %)	234.9 <sup>a</sup>	270.6 <sup>a</sup>	22.1 <sup>b</sup>	5.0 <sup>a</sup>	2.6 <sup>a</sup>

There is no significant difference between the same letter in the same column at  $P \leq 0.05$ .

The mineral composition of the various biscuit treatments is delineated in Table 4. The predominant minerals detected in the biscuits are sodium (Na), calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), iron (Fe), and zinc (Zn). Notably, sodium levels were significantly reduced in biscuits made from corn flour (208.7 mg/100g) compared to those prepared with wheat flour (216.8 mg/100g). The fortification of corn flour with various additives derived from dried papaya fruits, dried pulp, or dried peels led to a substantial increase in sodium content compared to the control sample made from corn flour. Notably, the addition of dried papaya peels resulted in the most significant increase, particularly when the percentage of peels added was higher compared to the other treatments. The calcium content of the various biscuit treatments ranged from 82.4 to 270.6 mg/100 g. The wheat flour biscuits exhibited the least significant decrease among the treatments and were outperformed by the corn flour biscuits in calcium content, which reached 87.0 mg/100 g. A significant difference in calcium content was observed between the corn flour biscuits ( $p < 0.001$ ). The incorporation of papaya flour, in its various forms, led to a substantial increase in the calcium content of the biscuits, particularly when the peels were incorporated. The increase in calcium was directly proportional to the increase in the content of the added peels. With regard to the magnesium, iron, and zinc content, biscuits made from wheat flour exhibited significantly higher levels of these minerals compared to biscuits made from corn flour. However, the incorporation of papaya flour in various forms, particularly with high levels of added peels, led to a substantial increase in the mineral content of the biscuits. The study's findings indicate that biscuits fortified with diverse papaya flours exhibited higher concentrations of calcium, sodium, magnesium, iron, and zinc compared to their unenriched counterparts. This observation aligns with the results reported by Ndifet al. (2014). The outcomes of this investigation corroborate the earlier research conducted by Emelike et al. (2020).

Comment [f10]: ????????



### 3.4. Moisture content and water activity of different types of biscuits

**Table 5. Moisture content and water activity of different types of biscuits**

Samples	Moisture %	Water activity% ( $a_w$ )
C1 (Control wheat)	4.52 <sup>a</sup>	0.77 <sup>a</sup>
C2 (Control corn)	3.65 <sup>d</sup>	0.61 <sup>z</sup>
T1(Whole dried fruits at25%)	3.85 <sup>c</sup>	0.64 <sup>c</sup>
T2(Whole dried fruits at 30%)	3.96 <sup>c</sup>	0.66 <sup>d</sup>
T3(Dried pulp at 10%)	3.68 <sup>d</sup>	0.62 <sup>j</sup>
T4(Dried pulp at 35%)	3.70 <sup>d</sup>	0.62 <sup>j</sup>
T5(Dried peel at 15%)	4.17 <sup>b</sup>	0.70 <sup>c</sup>
T6(Dried peel at 20% %)	4.32 <sup>a</sup>	0.74 <sup>b</sup>

There is no significant difference between the same letter in the same column at  $P \leq 0.05$ .

The amount of water that is available for biological responses is measured by water activity, or  $a_w$ . It is a critical factor in determining the viability of microorganisms and their capacity to proliferate. It has been identified as a critical factor in determining the safety or shelf-life of a product (IFT/FDA 2001 and Kilcast & Subramaniam 2000). The following table illustrates the  $a_w$  values of various biscuit samples. The analysis reveals that the water activity value of biscuits made from corn flour (0.61) is lower than that made from wheat flour (0.77). The incorporation of papaya pulp flour into biscuit formulations led to a negligible increase in water activity, while the fortification with whole fruit flour elicited a more pronounced effect, and a further enhancement was observed with the addition of papaya peel flour. The findings indicate that the estimates of water activity are consistent with the estimates of moisture content for the diverse biscuit samples. Rockland & Nishi (1980) established a threshold of  $\leq 0.85$  for water activity ( $A_w$ ), which is considered non-hazardous for foods, based on its ability to impede the growth and toxin production of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Furthermore, Cook & Johnson (2010) have asserted that  $a_w$  is a particularly salient factor influencing the spoilage of numerous bakery products, including breads and cakes, which typically have levels above 0.94. The findings on water activity, therefore, offer a basis for predicting the stability, safety, and quality of biscuits prepared with an  $a_w$  below or equal to 0.85.

### 3.5. Color attributes of different types of biscuits

**Table 6.  $L^*$ ,  $a^*$  and  $b^*$  of different types of biscuits**

Sample	$L^*$	$a^*$	$b^*$
C1 (Control wheat)	70.5 <sup>b</sup>	5.2 <sup>a</sup>	18.4 <sup>h</sup>
C2 (Control corn)	72.3 <sup>a</sup>	4.8 <sup>b</sup>	19.6 <sup>g</sup>
T1(Whole dried fruits at25%)	61.8 <sup>c</sup>	2.4 <sup>c</sup>	24.8 <sup>c</sup>
T2(Whole dried fruits at 30%)	58.2 <sup>f</sup>	1.1 <sup>f</sup>	23.7 <sup>d</sup>
T3(Dried pulp at 10%)	68.3 <sup>c</sup>	3.8 <sup>c</sup>	26.3 <sup>b</sup>
T4(Dried pulp at 35%)	66.8 <sup>d</sup>	2.8 <sup>d</sup>	31.2 <sup>a</sup>
T5(Dried peel at 15%)	52.9 <sup>g</sup>	0.5 <sup>h</sup>	20.7 <sup>f</sup>
T6(Dried peel at 20% %)	48.4 <sup>h</sup>	0.8 <sup>g</sup>	22.5 <sup>g</sup>

There is no significant difference between the same letter in the same column at  $P \leq 0.05$ .

As illustrated in Table 6, the incorporation of diverse papaya flours, encompassing whole fruits, pulp, and peels, exerts a discernible influence on the color attributes of the resultant biscuits. In general, biscuits made from corn flour exhibited a higher lightness value (72.3) compared to those made from wheat flour (70.5). It is noteworthy that the lightness values exhibited a decline in conjunction with the incorporation of various papaya flours into the corn flour matrix. Notably, the samples containing papaya pulp exhibited the highest lightness, particularly when the percentage of added pulp was reduced. Conversely, an increase in the level of peels added to the flour resulted in a decrease in lightness, particularly when the peels were used in their pure form. Furthermore, the redness level ( $a^*$ ) of biscuits made from corn flour was found to be lower compared to those made from wheat flour. Furthermore, the redness rate of biscuits made from corn flour and fortified with different papaya additives decreased compared to the control made from corn, particularly when the peels were incorporated as whole fruit. The magnitude of this decrease was more pronounced when the peels were added in their pure form. Furthermore, the yellowing values increased from 20.7 to 31.3 when papaya in its various forms was incorporated into corn flour, as compared to the corn control (19.6) and also compared to the biscuit control made from wheat flour (18.4). The addition of pulp flour to corn flour resulted in the highest degree of yellowing, while the samples containing peels exhibited the lowest level of yellowing. This phenomenon may be attributed to the presence of green hues in the yellow peels, which could have influenced the color perception.

### 3.6. Crispness and hardness of different types of biscuits

**Table 7. Crispness and hardness of different types of biscuits**

Sample	Crispness (Number of peak)	Hardness (Newton)
C1 (Control wheat)	6 <sup>a</sup>	4203.3 <sup>a</sup>
C2 (Control corn)	6 <sup>a</sup>	4195.2 <sup>b</sup>
T1(Whole dried fruits at25%)	5 <sup>b</sup>	4143.1 <sup>c</sup>

**Comment [f11]:** Present your table in a scientific way please

**Comment [f12]:** No lines are supposed to be drawn this way. Draw a neat scientific table

T2(Whole dried fruits at 30%)	4 <sup>c</sup>	4132.1 <sup>f</sup>
T3(Dried pulp at 10%)	6 <sup>a</sup>	4165.8 <sup>c</sup>
T4(Dried pulp at 35%)	5 <sup>b</sup>	4153.5 <sup>d</sup>
T5(Dried peel at 15%)	3 <sup>d</sup>	4090.3 <sup>g</sup>
T6(Dried peel at 20% %)	3 <sup>d</sup>	4076.1 <sup>h</sup>

There is no significant difference between the same letter in the same column at  $P \leq 0.05$ .

As demonstrated in Table 7, the results indicate that the biscuit samples formulated from corn and wheat flour, in conjunction with those produced through the incorporation of 10% dried papaya pulp, exhibited the optimal level of crispness among the produced biscuit samples. However, when the percentage of pulp added increased to 35%, the degree of crispness decreased, reaching a level comparable to that of the sample containing 25% dried whole papaya fruits. Furthermore, increasing the percentage of dried fruits added led to a subsequent decrease in crispness, with this decrease being more pronounced when corn flour was substituted with dried papaya peels, particularly at higher percentages of peels incorporated. The hardness results indicated that the optimal biscuit samples were produced from wheat flour (4203.33), followed by corn flour (4195.22). The analysis revealed a decline in hardness with the substitution of corn flour with dried papaya fruit flour, dried pulp flour, or dried papaya peel flour. The biscuit sample with 10% pulp added exhibited optimal characteristics, followed by the sample with 35% pulp added. The biscuit samples with added peels exhibited the lowest hardness compared to the other samples.

### 3.7. The physical properties of different types of biscuits

**Table 8. The physical properties of different types of biscuits**

Sample	Wight g	Diameter (D) cm	Thickness (T) cm	Spread ratio (D/T)	% Spread
C1 (Control wheat)	4.06 <sup>h</sup>	4.62 <sup>a</sup>	0.62 <sup>a</sup>	7.45 <sup>b</sup>	100.00 <sup>a</sup>
C2 (Control corn)	4.18 <sup>g</sup>	4.59 <sup>b</sup>	0.61 <sup>b</sup>	7.52 <sup>a</sup>	100.94 <sup>a</sup>
T1(Whole dried fruits at 25%)	4.38 <sup>d</sup>	4.26 <sup>d</sup>	0.59 <sup>d</sup>	7.22 <sup>d</sup>	96.91 <sup>c</sup>
T2(Whole dried fruits at 30%)	4.44 <sup>c</sup>	4.18 <sup>e</sup>	0.58 <sup>d</sup>	7.21 <sup>d</sup>	96.78 <sup>c</sup>
T3(Dried pulp at 10%)	4.22 <sup>f</sup>	4.56 <sup>b</sup>	0.61 <sup>b</sup>	7.48 <sup>b</sup>	100.29 <sup>a</sup>
T4(Dried pulp at 35%)	4.32 <sup>c</sup>	4.38 <sup>c</sup>	0.60 <sup>c</sup>	7.30 <sup>c</sup>	97.98 <sup>b</sup>
T5(Dried peel at 15%)	4.56 <sup>b</sup>	4.11 <sup>f</sup>	0.57 <sup>e</sup>	7.21 <sup>d</sup>	96.91 <sup>c</sup>
T6(Dried peel at 20% %)	4.64 <sup>a</sup>	4.03 <sup>g</sup>	0.56 <sup>f</sup>	7.20 <sup>d</sup>	96.64 <sup>c</sup>

There is no significant difference between the same letter in the same column at  $P \leq 0.05$ .

Eight treatments of biscuits were prepared. The first treatment involved the production of biscuits from wheat flour containing gluten protein, which were then compared with other samples made from corn flour only (control 2) or other samples made from corn flour partially replaced by dried whole papaya flour, pulp flour, or peel flour in different proportions. The physical properties of the cracker biscuits were evaluated, and the results are presented in Table 8. The weight range of the biscuits was from 4.06 g to 4.64 g, with the maximum value observed in biscuit T6. A comparison of the weights of biscuits made from corn flour (control 2) and those made from wheat flour (control 1) revealed that the former was heavier, as illustrated in the results presented in Table 8. Furthermore, the fortification or replacement of corn flour with papaya flour from different sources (whole fruits, pulp, or peels) resulted in an increase in the weight of the resulting biscuits compared to the corn control. The highest recorded weight was observed when replacing with papaya peel flour, particularly when increasing the percentage of replacement. In contrast, replacing with papaya pulp led to a less significant increase in biscuit weight compared to replacing with whole fruits. However, both replacement methods resulted in an increase in biscuit weight with increasing replacement percentages. The results of the study demonstrated that the weight of all types of cracker biscuits containing gluten-free compound flour was greater than the weight of the control biscuits (control1) containing 100% wheat flour. It is widely acknowledged that a high biscuit diameter and a greater spread ratio constitute optimal product quality attributes (Ekissi et al., 2020). The diameter of the biscuits ranged from 4.03 to 4.62 centimeters, with the highest value recorded for the control sample made from wheat flour containing gluten (4.62 centimeters), followed by the control sample made from corn (4.59 centimeters). Generally, the diameter of the biscuits decreased with the incorporation of papaya flour, or the decrease increased with the increase in the percentage of added peels, whether peels in pure form or in the form of whole fruits, compared to the addition of papaya pulp flour, which resulted in larger diameters. A similar trend was observed in the thickness of the biscuits. The relationship between breaking strength or decreasing gluten and reducing thickness has been reported by Nwosu and Akubor (2016). The spread ratio is a pivotal criterion for biscuit quality, as it impacts the texture, grain fineness, bite, and overall mouthfeel of the biscuit. The alterations in diameter and thickness were reflected in the spread ratio and biscuit spread ratio. The incorporation of varying quantities of dried papaya flour, categorized into three distinct types, has been observed to result in a reduction of the spread ratio when compared to biscuits composed exclusively of corn flour. This reduction in spread ratio was further accentuated when contrasted with biscuits formulated with wheat flour. This phenomenon can be attributed to the competition among ingredients for available water, as previously observed by Dayakar et al. (2016). Akubor (2016) further suggested that the spread ratio is affected by the water absorption capacity of the ingredients. It was further observed that the addition of flour or other ingredients during dough mixing that absorb water would result in a reduction of biscuit spread. The decline in the spread ratio was observed to increase in

proportion to the percentage of added peels. Overall, there was no discernible difference in the percent spread between the two control samples and sample 3, which incorporated 10% dried pulp. The percent spread of the remaining treatments ranged from 96.64 to 69.91%, with the exception of treatment 4, which outperformed them and was fortified with 35% dried pulp. The reduced percent spread of biscuits containing gluten-free compound flour can be attributed to the propensity of compound flour to form clusters, which result in an increased number of available hydrophilic sites. These sites compete for the limited free water in the biscuit dough (McWatters and Holmes, 1979).

### 3.8. Sensory evaluation of different types of biscuits

**Table 9. The sensory attributes of different types of biscuits**

Sample	Color10	Flavor 10	Mouthfeel 10	crispness 20	Appearance 10	Overall score 50
C1 (Control wheat)	8.5 <sup>e</sup>	9.0 <sup>e</sup>	9.6 <sup>a</sup>	8.5 <sup>e</sup>	9.0 <sup>e</sup>	44.6 <sup>c</sup>
C2 (Control corn)	9.0 <sup>e</sup>	8.5 <sup>e</sup>	9.2 <sup>c</sup>	9.0 <sup>e</sup>	9.0 <sup>e</sup>	44.7 <sup>c</sup>
T1 (Whole dried fruits at 25%)	8.7 <sup>d</sup>	8.8 <sup>d</sup>	8.9 <sup>d</sup>	8.8 <sup>d</sup>	9.2 <sup>b</sup>	44.4 <sup>c</sup>
T2 (Whole dried fruits at 30%)	8.2 <sup>f</sup>	8.5 <sup>e</sup>	8.2 <sup>e</sup>	8.4 <sup>e</sup>	9.0 <sup>e</sup>	42.3 <sup>d</sup>
T3 (Dried pulp at 10%)	9.2 <sup>b</sup>	9.2 <sup>b</sup>	9.5 <sup>b</sup>	9.2 <sup>b</sup>	9.3 <sup>b</sup>	46.4 <sup>b</sup>
T4 (Dried pulp at 35%)	9.5 <sup>a</sup>	9.5 <sup>a</sup>	9.7 <sup>a</sup>	9.4 <sup>a</sup>	9.6 <sup>a</sup>	47.7 <sup>a</sup>
T5 (Dried peel at 15%)	7.5 <sup>g</sup>	7.8 <sup>f</sup>	7.6 <sup>f</sup>	8.1 <sup>f</sup>	8.5 <sup>d</sup>	39.5 <sup>e</sup>
T6 (Dried peel at 20% %)	7.0 <sup>a</sup>	7.3 <sup>g</sup>	6.9 <sup>g</sup>	7.3 <sup>g</sup>	8.1 <sup>e</sup>	36.6 <sup>f</sup>

There is no significant difference between the same letter in the same column at  $P \leq 0.05$ .

Sensory attributes have been identified as a primary factor influencing consumer acceptance. Consequently, a comprehensive evaluation was conducted to assess the impact of various treatments on key sensory characteristics, including color, flavor, mouthfeel, crispness, and appearance. In regard to sensory attributes, treatment T4 was found to be superior to all other treatments in all sensory attributes, including color, flavor, mouthfeel, crispness, and appearance. Treatment T3, in which corn flour was substituted with proportions of dried papaya pulp, followed T4. The T4 and T3 treatments exhibited the lowest water content and moisture percentage, which are significant factors contributing to texture changes, such as the mechanical changes observed in biscuits (Nikolaidis and Labuza, 1996). The preferable textures and crispness of the T4 and T3 treatments could be attributed to the quality of the proteins added, which may enhance the acceptability of gluten-free biscuits in terms of texture, as reported by Matos et al. (2014). Shaabani et al. (2017) also demonstrated that the addition of proteins from other sources or hydrocolloids improved the acceptability of gluten-free biscuits in terms of texture. The third reason for exceeding the two treatments, particularly on the control treatments, may be due to the use of CMC, a common ingredient in bakery products that functions as a viscosity enhancer or coagulant to improve texture and sensory properties. This results in a more homogeneous cell distribution in the biscuits, akin to the texture of conventional biscuits made from wheat flour. Furthermore, they have been shown to enhance the specific volume and texture, as evidenced by a reduction in hardness and delayed spoilage (Preichardt et al., 2011). The fourth reason may be attributed to the increased viscosity of the corn flour mixture due to swelling and gelatinization of starch granules during heat treatment, thus improving the biscuits' texture (Marston et al., 2016). In the following ranking of sensory properties, the wheat flour and corn flour biscuit samples demonstrated similar results and were thus considered comparable, followed by the samples with the incorporation of whole dried fruits in terms of the degree of quality in sensory properties. Finally, the biscuit samples fortified with dried papaya peels demonstrated the least favorable organoleptic properties. It is evident from Table 9 that sample T4 was by far the most optimal sample. While the T3 sample exhibited comparable overall acceptability to the wheat and corn control samples, supplemented with 25% whole fruit, it surpassed the others in terms of crispness, mouthfeel due to its reduced fiber content, and flavor, color, and appearance. In contrast, the biscuit samples fortified with papaya peels exhibited the lowest acceptability, primarily due to the increase in fiber content, which led to a reduction in mouthfeel and crispness.

### 4. Conclusion

The demand for gluten-free baked goods is on the rise, especially for individuals with gluten sensitivity. Bakery products lack some essential ingredients such as dietary fiber and micronutrients. Therefore, there is a need to fortify some popular products such as biscuits, which are often used as snacks due to their unique taste and texture, with ingredients with high nutritional value due to their richness in bioactive substances. Healthy gluten-free biscuits are made using corn flour and fortified with different types of papaya flour (whole fruit, pulp and peel). Six different biscuit blends were prepared by partially replacing corn flour with whole fruit papaya flour (10% and 25%), pulp flour (20% and 35%) or peel flour (10% and 25%), and compared to a reference sample made with 100% wheat flour and another made with 100% corn flour. The results showed that the biscuit samples made from corn flour fortified with papaya pulp flour outperformed the control samples made from corn flour only and the other fortified samples. In conclusion, it can be concluded that gluten-free biscuits with high nutritional and health value and sensory quality characteristics can be produced by fortifying corn flour with papaya pulp flour at (20% and 35%).

**Disclaimer (artificial intelligence)**



Author(s) hereby declare that NO generative AI technologies such as Large Language Models (ChatGPT, COPILOT, etc.) and text-to-image generators have been used during the writing or editing of this manuscript.

## 5. References

- Abd El-Hamid, H. A. A. ,Abdel-Gawad M.M. El-Shawaf, M. M., Attia M.A. El-Makhzangy, A. M. A. and Ahmed M.S. Hussein, A. M. S. (2019). Preparation and evaluation of physical and chemical properties of gluten –free biscuits. *J. Product. & Dev.*, 24(1): 77– 94.
- Akubor PI. Chemical composition, physical and sensory properties of biscuits [35]. Supplemented with cashew pomace flour. *NSUK Journal of Science and Technology*. 2018;6(2016):138–141.
- Alemayhu, A., Admassu, S., & Tesfaye, B. (2019). Shelf-life prediction of edible cotton, peanut and soybean seed oils using an empirical model based on standard quality tests. *Cogent Food & Agriculture*, 5(1), 1622482.
- Ali, A. Devarajan, S., Waly Mohamed, M. I. and Musthafa, E. (2012). *Nutritional and Medicinal Values of Papaya (Carica papaya L.)* Chapter 11 Publisher: Nova Science Publishers Inc, NY, USA
- AOAC (2012). *Association of Official Analytical Chemists. Official Methods of Analysis* ed). Maryland, USA.
- AOAC. (2012). *Association of official analytical chemist. In official methods of analysis of the analytical chemist international.* (18th ed)
- Baljeet, S. Y., Ritika, B. Y., Roshan, L. Y. (2010). Studies on functional properties and incorporation of buckwheat flour for biscuit making. *International Food Research Journal*, 17:1067-6701
- Bello, M. O., Olabanji, I. O., Abdul-Hammed, M., & Okunade, T. D. (2013). Characterization of domestic onion wastes and bulb (*Allium cepa* L.): fatty acids and metal contents. *International Food Research Journal*, 20(5), 2153.
- Bolarinwa, I. F., Aruna, T. E., Adejuyitan, J. A., Alabi, O. D., & Alabi, O. D. (2020). Chemical, physical and sensory properties of pawpaw fortified pan bread. *Journal of Food Chemistry Nanotechnology*, 6(2), 65–71. doi:10.17756/jfcn.2020-085.
- Cook, F. K. & Johnson, B. L. (2010). *Microbiological spoilage of cereal products in: Food microbiology and food safety*. Sperber, W.H. ad Doyle, M.P. (ed). P 223. Springer New York, USA.
- Dawit Gizachew, Chih-suan Chang, Barbara Szonyi, Sandra De La Torre, Wei-tsyi Evert Ting. Aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) production by *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasiticus* on ground Nyjer seeds: The effect of water activity and temperature. *Int J Food Microbiol.* 2019;296(2):8-13.
- Dayakar R, Mohamed A, Sunooj K, Patil J, Ganesh T. Influence of milling methods and particle size on hydration properties of sorghum flour and quality of sorghum biscuits. *LWT Food Sci Technol.* 2016; 67:8-13.
- Di Cairano, M., Galgano, F., Tolve, R., Caruso, M. C., & Condelli, N. (2018). Focus on gluten free biscuits: Ingredients and issues. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 81: 203-212.
- Ekissi ESG, Koffi EA, Konan OH, Gbotogon OJ, Kouadio NP. Composition of organic acids and anti-nutritional factors of papaya (*Carica papaya* L. var solo 8) at different stages of maturity. *World Journal of Pharmaceutical and Medical Research.* 2020;6(12).
- Elleuch, M., Bedigian, D., Roiseux, O., Besbes, S., Blecker, C., & Attia, H. (2011). Dietary fibre and fibre-rich by-products of food processing: Characterisation, technological functionality and commercial applications: A review. *Food chemistry*, 124(2), 411-421.
- Emelike, N. J. T., & Akusu, M. O. (2020). Comparative effects of drying on the drying characteristics, product quality and proximate composition of some selected vegetables. *European Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 8(2), 11-23.
- Ergun, R., Lietha, R. & Hartel. R.W. 2010. Moisture and shelf life in sugar confections. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 50(2): 162-192.
- FAO (2003). *Food energy-methods of analysis and conversion factors*, Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Fraser, J.R. and Holmes, D. C. (1959). Proximate analysis of wheat flour carbohydrate. In. *Analysis of whole meal flour and its some of its fractions. J. of Science of Food and Agricultural*, 10 (9): 506-512.
- Fry, L., Madden, A. M., & Fallaize, R. (2018). An investigation into the nutritional composition and cost of gluten-free versus regular food products in the UK. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, 31(1), 108–120.
- Gallagher, E., Gormley, T. R., & Arendt, E. K. (2004). Recent advances in the formulation of gluten-free cereal-based products. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 15(3-4), 143-152.
- Gomeaz M. I., Obilantán A. B., Martín D., Madvamase T., and Manyo E. S., Grain quality evaluation in manual of lab procedure for quality evaluation of sorghum and pearl Italian millet tech, Manual No. 2 (International crop research institute for the semi-arid crops, 1997).
- Hamdani AM, Wani IA, Bhat NA. Gluten free cookies from rice-chickpea composite flour using exudate gums from acacia, apricot and karaya. *Food Bioscience.* 2020;35:100541.

Comment [f13]: Remove please

- IFT/FDA, 2001. Evaluation and definition of potentially hazardous foods: a report of the Institute of Food Technologists for the Food and Drug Administration of the US Department of Health and Human Services December 31 Contract No 223-98-2333 Task Order No 4.
- Institute of Medicine, Dietary Reference Intakes, The National Academies Press, Washington, D.C., 2006.
- Jamal, P., Akbar, I., Jaswir, I., &Zuhani, Y. (2017). Quantification of Total Phenolic compounds in Papaya fruit peel. *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science*, 40(1).
- Kilcast, D. and Subramaniam, P. (2000). The stability and shelf –life of food. BocaRaton, Washington DC USA Woodhead Publishing Limited and CRC Press LLC. Chap.4 pp. 79-103.
- Maboh, J., Yusufu, M. I., Awambeng, S. M., Agbor, E. A., Konsum, L. K., Ezindu-Odoemelam, M. N., &Yakum, N. K. (2024). Production of Biscuits from Wheat, Almond and Pawpaw Flour Blends and Investigating It's Physicochemical and Texture Characteristics. *Asian Food Science Journal*, 23(6), 13-29.
- Mancebo, C. M., Miguel, M. A. S., Martinez, M. M., & Gomez, M. (2015). Optimization of rheological properties of gluten free doughs with HPMC, psyllium and different levels of water. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 61, 8–15.
- Marston, K., Khouryieh, H., &Aramouni, F. (2016). Effect of heat treatment of sorghum flour on the functional properties of gluten free bread and cake. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 65, 637–644.
- Matos, M. E., &Rosell, C. M. (2015). Understanding gluten-free dough for reaching breads with physical quality and nutritional balance. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 95(4), 653–661.
- Matos, M. E., Sanz, T., &Rosell, C. M. (2014). Establishing the function of proteins on the rheological and quality properties of rice based gluten free muffins. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 35, 150–158.
- McCabe, M. S. (2010). Balancing consumer protection and scientific integrity in the face of uncertainty: The example of gluten-free foods. *Food and Drug Law Journal*, 65(2), 367–390.
- McWatters, K. H., & Holmes, M. R. (1979). Influence of moist heat on solubility and emulsification properties of soy and peanut flours. *Journal of Food Science*, 44(3), 774-776.
- Melini, F., Melini, V., Luziatelli, F., &Ruzzi, M. (2017). Current and forward-looking approaches to technological and nutritional improvements of gluten-free bread with legume flours: A critical review. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 16(5), 1101–1122.
- Mudgil D, Barak S, Khatkar BS. Cookie texture, spread ratio and sensory acceptability of cookies as a function of soluble dietary fiber, baking time and different water levels. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*. 2017;80:537-542.
- Nadeem M., Anjum F.M., Arshad M.U., Hussain S. (2010). Chemical characteristics and antioxidant activity of different sunflower hybrids and their utilization in bread. *Food Science Vol. 4*(10): 618-626.
- Nakhate, Y. D., Talekar, K. S., Giri, S. V., Vasekar, R. D., Mankar, H. C., & Tiwari, P. R. (2019). Pharmacological and chemical composition of Carica papaya: On overview. *World J. Pharm. Res*, 8, 811-821.
- Naseer B, Naik HR, Hussain SZ, Zargar I, Bhat TA, Nazir N. Effect of carboxymethyl cellulose and baking conditions on in-vitro starch digestibility and physicochemical characteristics of low Glycemic Index glutenfree rice cookies. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*. 2021; 141:110885.
- Ndife, J., Obiegbonna, J., & Ajayi, S. (2013). Comparative evaluation of the nutritional and sensory quality of major commercial whole-wheat breads in Nigerian market. *Advance Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 5(12), 1600-1605.
- Ng, Y. V., Alina, T. T., &Rosli, W. W. (2020). Effect of overripe banana pulp incorporation on nutritional composition, physical properties, and sensory acceptability of chocolate cookies. *International Food Research Journal*, 27(2), 252-260.
- Nikolaidis, A., &Labuza, T. P. (1996). Glass transition state diagram of a baked cracker and its relationship to gluten. *Journal of Food Science*, 61(4), 803.
- Noshad, Q., Anjum, M., Malik, N. Z., Ajaib, M., Jehangir, S., & Riaz, M. (2018). 36. Investigations of phytochemical and antifungal activity of Carica papaya L. leaves. *Pure and Applied Biology (PAB)*, 7(1), 309-314.
- Nwosu A, Akubor P. Health promoting potentials of biscuits produced with orange peel and pulp flours. *J Nutri Ecol Food Res*. 2016;3:43–48.
- Othman, O. C. (2009). Physical and chemical composition of storage-ripened papaya (*Carica papaya* L.) fruits of eastern Tanzania. *Tanzania Journal of Science*, 35.
- Preichardt, L. D., Vendruscolo, C. T., Gularte, M. A., & da Moreira, A. S. (2011). The role of xanthan gum in the quality of gluten free cakes: Improved bakery products for coeliac patients: The role of xanthan gum in the quality of gluten free cakes. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 46(12), 2591–2597. <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2011.02788.x>

- Ramadan, A.H.M., H.F. El-Mehiry, and M.M. Abd El-Hay, 2015. Effect of Fortified Cake with Papaya (*Carica papaya* L.) on Hypoglycemia of Streptozotocin (STZ) Induced Diabetic in Experimental Rats. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 33(7): 1142-1153.
- Rebellato, A. P., Pacheco, B. C., Prado, J. P., & Pallone, J. A. L. (2015). Iron in fortified biscuits: A simple method for its quantification, bioaccessibility study and physicochemical quality. *Food Research International*, 77, 385-391.
- Rockland, L.B. and Nishi, S. K. (1980). Influence of water activity on food product quality and stability. *Food Tech*. 34: 42-59.
- Rovira DD (2009). *Technology and Engineering*. Accessed online on 23rd March, 2010 from <http://books.google.ca/books?isbn=0813821355>.
- Rutkowska, J., Adamska, A., Sinkiewicz, I., & Bialek, M. (2012). Composition of fatty acids in selected sorts of biscuits, offered for children. *Acta alimentaria*, 41(4), 433-442.
- Schober, T. J., O'Brien, C. M., McCarthy, D., Darnedde, A., & Arendt, E. K. (2003). Influence of gluten-free flour mixes and fat powders on the quality of gluten-free biscuits. *European Food Research and Technology*, 216(5), 369-376. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s00217-003-0694-3>.
- Schwingshackl, L., Hoffmann, G., Kalle-Uhlmann, T., Arregui, M., Buijsse, B., & Boeing, H. (2015). Fruit and vegetable consumption and changes in anthropometric variables in adult populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *PloS one*, 10(10), e0140846.
- Shaabani, S., Yarmand, M. S., Kiani, H., & Emam-Djomeh, Z. (2017). The effect of chickpea protein isolate in combination with transglutaminase and xanthan on the physical and rheological characteristics of gluten free muffins and batter based on millet flour. *LWT*, 90, 362-372.
- Sharma, S. K., Bansal, S., Mangal, M., Dixit, A. K., Gupta, R. K., & Mangal, A. K. (2016). Utilization of food processing by-products as dietary, functional, and novel fiber: A review. *Critical reviews in food science and nutrition*, 56(10), 1647-1661.
- Varastegani, B., Zzaman, W., & Yang, T. A. (2015). Investigation on physicochemical and sensory evaluation of cookies substituted with papaya pulp flour. *Journal of Food Quality*, 38(3), 175-183.
- Verma, S., R.K. Varma, and S. Singh, 2017. Medicinal and pharmacological parts of *Carica papaya*: A review, *Indian Journal of Drugs*, 5(3): 88-93.
- ZainulAbedeem, Md. , Jyothi NV and Sahil Suleman (2022). Health benefits of papaya. *International Journal of Advanced Academic Studies*, 4(4): 101-104
- Zaman W, Biswas SK, Helali MOH, Ibrahim M and Hassan P 2006 Physicochemical composition of four papaya varieties grown at Rajshahi J. *Bio-Sci*. 14: 83-86.